FILED 08-21-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2023AP000722 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

N. K. B.,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the Milwaukee County Circuit Court Order, the Honorable David Swanson Presiding, for Involuntary Administration of Medication

# BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

TIMOTHY C. DREWA Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087950

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 drewat@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Naomi<sup>1</sup> was at a psychiatric hospital when she allegedly kicked a nurse. She was charged with misdemeanors and competency was raised at the first hearing. She was found incompetent but was still held in jail for three weeks when she allegedly slapped a nurse giving her medication. She was charged with felony battery by a prisoner and competency was again raised. Then, an involuntary medication order was requested to restore Naomi to competency, but the court concluded "the *Sell* factors do not apply here." Instead, the court construed from Sell and Harper a judicially-created alternative and granted the request because it found Naomi was "dangerous." Yet, the court neither defined "dangerous" nor did the government pursue an order under Wisconsin's alternative, existing authority - chapter 51, which contains five specific dangerous definitions.

Should this Court vacate the circuit court's involuntary medication order given the lack of statutory authority and dearth of procedural and substantive due process protections?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> To preserve confidentiality while promoting readability, this brief refers to N.K.B. by the pseudonym "Naomi." See Wis. Stat. § 809.19(1)(g).

Case 2023AP000722 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-21-2023 Page 10 of 44

The circuit court held its order "is not under the *Sell* factors" because "the *Sell* factors do not apply here." Instead, the circuit court concluded that "dangerousness" is a judicially created basis given the court's reading of *Washington v. Harper*, 494 U.S. 210 (1990) and *Sell v. United States*, 539 U.S. 166 (2003).

## POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Naomi does not request oral argument but would welcome it if the court believes it helpful to decide the issues.

Naomi requests publication because this case presents novel questions about the circuit court's authority to order involuntary medication in proceedings under § 971.14. Publication would clarify the law on an issue of constitutional importance and provide needed guidance to the bench and bar.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

While at a psychiatric hospital facility on January 27<sup>th</sup>, Naomi allegedly kicked a nurse's shin. (37:21). The following day, the state charged Naomi with misdemeanor battery and obstructing an officer.

See Local County case number 2023CM305<sup>2,3</sup>; (see generally 37:6,21,29-30). At her first hearing two-days later, the court ordered a competency examination and remanded Naomi into custody without bail.<sup>4</sup>

A month later on March 7<sup>th</sup>, the court found Naomi incompetent to proceed and ordered detention at Mendota Mental Health Institute (Mendota). *Id*. Mendota is a facility that primarily provides services to people with mental illness and involvement with the criminal-court system.<sup>5</sup> (31:1).

Despite the court's conclusion that Naomi was incompetent and contrary to the court's order placing Naomi at Mendota, she was still being held at the Milwaukee County Jail three weeks later when she allegedly slapped a nurse dispensing medications. (2). For this, the state charged Naomi with felony battery by prisoners, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.20(1). (2). At her first hearing on April 4<sup>th</sup>, the circuit court ordered

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  To further confidentiality, "Local" is used as depicted in this Court's August 9, 2023 Order.

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  This court may take judicial notice of CCAP records. Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp., 2013 WI App 32,  $\P 5$  n.1, 346 Wis. 2d 635, 829 N.W.2d 522

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CCAP Record: Local County, case no. 23CM305 available at: https://wcca.wicourts.gov/ (last accessed August 1, 2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Wisconsin Department of Health Services – Mendota Mental Health Institute available at: https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/mmhi/index.htm (last accessed July 8, 2023).

a competency evaluation. (31:1; 4). The competency hearing was scheduled for two-weeks later. (*Id.*).

Prior to the competency hearing, Mendota Psychiatrist Kevin Murtaugh asked the court for an order authorizing the state facility to involuntarily medicate Naomi. (10). Additionally, Psychologist Jenna M. Krickeberg filed the competency evaluation report which opined that Naomi was incompetent. (7:4).

### I. Initial Hearing – April 20, 2023 (31:2)

Following the return of Dr. Krickeberg's report, the commissioner held the initial hearing on April 20<sup>th</sup>. (31:2). The state did not object, but the defense did, which caused the commissioner to schedule the contested competency hearing in the circuit court. (*Id.*).

# II. Second Hearing – April 26, 2023 (40)

Six-days later, Dr. Krickeberg and Dr. Murtaugh testified at the contested competency hearing. (40:2).

Dr. Krickeberg opined that Naomi suffers from a mental illness and was incompetent to stand trial; finding that Naomi lacked the capacity to aid or assist counsel, understand counsel's role and court proceedings, and the ability to cooperate with counsel and to understand the gravity of the charges. (40:9). Dr. Krickeberg recommended that Naomi receive inpatient treatment at Mendota (40:10) and concluded

that Naomi would be unlikely to regain competence within the statutory time period without medications. (40:11-2).

The court found that Dr. Krickeberg's testimony and report established that Naomi was incompetent to proceed. (40:15). The court further held that the likelihood of Naomi attaining competence will be "far more likely" with medication. (*Id.*).

Dr. Murtaugh then testified about the requested involuntary medication order. (40:16). According to his testimony:

Naomi suffered from a mental illness which is treatable with psychiatric medications. (40:19). He recommended the psychiatric medication Haloperidol be forcefully administered via injection. (40:21).6 He testified further, Naomi was incapable of engaging in a discussion on the risks and benefits of medications (40:20). Nonetheless, he continued that the side-effects include sedation, dystonic reaction, and tardive dyskinesia. (40:25).Tardive dyskinesia involuntary muscle movements in any muscle group, but most commonly involuntary hand and facial movements. (40:27). Tardive dyskinesia, even when caught very early, can result in some patients suffering from involuntary muscle movements for life. (40:26-7). He opined that the medication would have a substantial likelihood of rendering Naomi competent (40:21). Also, Naomi was incompetent to refuse

 $<sup>^6</sup>$  He did not testify to the dosage or frequency of the forced injection. (Id.).

Case 2023AP000722 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-21-2023 Page 14 of 44

medication because Naomi did not express an understanding of the risks and benefits. (40:23). Finally, he was unaware of whether there were alternatives to involuntarily administering medication. (40:23-4).

Following the testimony, the defense objected to the court ordering involuntary medication; arguing the state failed to satisfy each of the *Sell* factors. (40:33). The defense explained that "[a]ccording to *State v.* Green, 396 Wis. 2d, 658, if any factor is unsatisfied, involuntary medication is a violation of the due process ... clause and is unconstitutional." (40:34).

The circuit court granted the petition and ordered the involuntary administration of medication. (40:38). When analyzing the Sell factors, the court stated it was guided by Wis. Stat. § 51.61(1)(g). (40:35). The court found the first factor – important government interest - satisfied because there is a general interest in assisting defendants in attaining competence and this defendant's historical record includes reference to unsuccessful suicide attempts and violent behavior. (40:35-6). The court found the significantly further second factor governmental interest – satisfied because medication has been successful in the past. (40:36). The court found the third factor - less intrusive alternatives satisfied because the doctors were unaware of nonmedication alternatives and that "other methods" have been unsuccessful. (40:37). The court found the fourth factor - medically appropriate - satisfied because it is in Naomi's best interest with the past history of harm to self and others, and the doctors believed medication was the only way for Naomi to attain competency. (40:38).

The defense made a brief argument that the court improperly conflated factors one and four because the "paternalistic reasons that [the court] cited for why the government has an interest in medicating [Naomi] are not actually the governmental interests that the State has in, quote, prosecuting a serious crime" as noted in paragraph 16 of *State v. Green.* (40:39). The defense further stated that the court failed to make specific findings on the nature of the charge. (*Id.*)

The court stated it disagreed and scheduled a review date for July 25<sup>th</sup>. (40:39-40).

# III. Third Hearing – April 27, 2023

On April 27<sup>th</sup>, the defense filed a notice of appeal regarding the court's involuntary medication order. (15; 17). Due to the notice of appeal, the court scheduled a supplemental hearing for May 4<sup>th</sup>, and stayed the involuntary medication order to that date. (31:3).

# IV. Fourth Hearing – May 4, 2023 (37)

Writing to the court the following day, the Wisconsin Department of Health Services asked the court to reconsider its stay decision. (19:1). It alleged that Naomi was a danger to herself and others. (*Id.*).

Case 2023AP000722 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-21-2023 Page 16 of 44

The defense responded to advise the court that a dangerousness finding does not give the court authority to order involuntary medication. (25:1).

At the May 4<sup>th</sup> hearing, the court clarified that it had used an older version of the standard form to order the involuntary medication. (37:4). Based upon reviewing the September 2022 version of the standard order, the court concluded that dangerousness is a separate court-created standard. The court concluded that this standard is separate from the *Sell* factors, and it could be used to order the pre-trial, involuntary administration of medications to an incompetent criminal defendant. (37:4-5). The court felt that the state should be given an opportunity to pursue this alternative "dangerous" standard, and allowed Mendota Psychiatrist Candace Cohen to testify.

Cohen testified that Naomi's record indicated that "since April 17th" Naomi threatened and carried out numerous acts that substantially risked serious physical harm to others. (37:6-7). She explained that these behaviors are consistent with Naomi's mental illness, (37:8), yet Naomi does also have a physical health condition called hypothyroidism which presents with symptoms difficult to tease apart from her mental illness. (37:9). Dr. Cohen confirmed that there had been discussions of initiating a chapter 51 commitment, but she did not know why it had not been pursued. (37:10).

Dr. Cohen finished by opining that an involuntary medication order would be in Naomi's best

Case 2023AP000722 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-21-2023 Page 17 of 44

interest and would not cause irreparable injury if administered because Naomi's "thoughts and behaviors will become clearer and hopefully [Naomi] would be willing to take the medications which would definitely treat [her] medical condition and, therefore, [Naomi] could stabilize and do better medically." (37:12).

Dr. Cohen described the process of administering involuntary medications. (37:14). He explained that an unspecified number of staff members would physically hold Naomi's limbs down and inject her with up to two needles at least once a day – Dr. Cohen recognized, however, that the petition lacks specificity as to dosage and frequency and this could result in this occurring more than once a day. (37:14-6).

The state argued against the stay by claiming that the defense has not shown they are likely to succeed on the merits of appeal. (37:19-21). It argued that Naomi's recent behavior substantially risked serious physical harm to others, which goes to the *Sell* factor relating to an important state interest because of its interest in preventing future victims and helping Naomi face the charges and assist themselves. (37:22-3). The state argued that because *Sell* stated that "there are often strong reasons for a Court to determine whether forced administration can be justified on these alternative grounds before turning to the trial competence question," the Court created a distinct dangerousness alternative to order pretrial, incompetent detainees forcefully medicated. (37:27).

The defense explained that Sell's discussion on whether forced administration can be justified on alternative grounds – such as dangerousness – did not acknowledge a separate court-created standard, but referred to the alternative authority existing in each state, such as chapter 51 in Wisconsin. (37:27-8). In regards to the Sell factors, the defense explained that the state had failed to satisfy the first factor - an important government interest – because continued prosecution will likely lead to an NGI conviction with treatment, so there is no important government interest when treatment for dangerousness obtainable under chapter 51. (37:29). In regards to the stay, the defense pointed out that forcibly being held down, being injected, and having your mental processes changed against your will is sufficient irreparable harm. (37:31).

The court adjourned the hearing to review case law and decide this issue in the afternoon. (37:33).

# V. Fifth Hearing – May 4, 2023 (39)

The court recalled the case in the afternoon and issued an oral decision. (39). The court believed that the United States Supreme Court created judicial authority to involuntarily medicate defendants based on a finding of dangerousness. (39:1-2). The court looked at *Sell* referencing the "often strong reasons for a court to determine whether forced administration of drugs can be justified on these alternative grounds before turning to the trial competence question" and concluded that "the *Sell* Court clearly carves out a

different treatment where it is believed that a person in custody is dangerous to him or herself or others." (39:3-4).

The court read Washington v. Harper to apply this alternative standard, stating "I find that the analysis set forth in Washington v. Harper actually is applies here because analysis that dangerousness ... is the main issue." (39:6). The court then analyzed the facts and amended the order of commitment and granted the "request for involuntary of administration medication grounds on dangerousness under section three of the standard form, which again is CR-206." (39:9). The court clarified that this order "is not under the Sell factors" because "the *Sell* factors do not apply here." (39:10).

### VI. Sixth Hearing – May 5, 2023 (38)

The court recalled this matter the next day on its own motion to supplement the record in relation to chapter 51. (38:2). The court agreed that chapter 51 is a potential avenue, but concluded that the court had its own authority based on its reading of *Washington v. Harper* and *Sell v. United States*, and the applicable statutes. (38:3-5).

Naomi is appealing the involuntary medication order entered in Local County case 2023CF1417.<sup>7</sup>

 $<sup>^7</sup>$  The circuit court did not order the involuntary administration of medication in Local County misdemeanor case, 2023CM305.

Case 2023AP000722 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-21-2023 Page 20 of 44

### **ARGUMENT**

The court ordered Naomi to be involuntarily medicated in her criminal case, even though the court's justification for the medication order had nothing to do with the underlying criminal case—*i.e.*, competence to stand trial. Instead, the court ordered involuntary medication based upon Naomi's alleged mental illness and her "dangerousness." The government has the ability to seek an involuntary medication order for a person who is both mentally ill and currently dangerous, but it must follow the procedures set forth in chapter 51.

Those procedures are meant to protect the significant liberty interest at stake and due process. For example, protections in chapter 51 include: pleading requirements, definitions of "dangerous" (in five distinct ways), a burden of proof, defined rights, hearing requirements, and strict timelines. Naomi was denied these protections when the court erroneously concluded *Sell* and *Harper* provide independent authority for involuntarily medicating a person in a criminal case, contrary to the statutory process enacted by the legislature.

Naomi's case is an example of using the criminal system as a mental health system, a task it is ill-suited and ill-resourced to handle. When holistic mental health treatment is needed, the criminal system exacerbates the problem by confining the person in crisis in jail without adequate treatment for months until they finally receive treatment to "restore them to

Case 2023AP000722 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-21-2023 Page 21 of 44

competency." For Naomi, what began as a minor incident in a psychiatric hospital has spiraled out of control. Over a month after this episode, the court found her incompetent to proceed and ordered her detained at Mendota for restoration. But Naomi sat locked in the Local County Jail for an additional three weeks when she then allegedly slapped a medication passer. Once again, the government reacted, not in pursuit of a fast-acting mental health commitment, but with the state adding a felony charge. Almost a full three months passed from her episode at the psychiatric hospital facility before the court issued the involuntary medication order.

The criminal system is focused on the state's ability to prosecute a person—i.e. competency restoration—and the civil commitment system is focused on mental health treatment. That is why there are separate statutes. Here, the court circumvented statutory authority and due process protections when it based the order on an obscure, judicially created standard it gleamed from *Harper* and *Sell*. A conclusion that misconstrued that precedent and ran afoul of due process. As such, Naomi was denied due process and the involuntary medication order should be vacated.

I. When the court bypassed established due process protections and applied a misconstrued interpretation of *Harper*, *Riggins*, and *Sell*, Naomi's due process rights were violated.

This appeal centers on whether due process allows the circuit court to base its involuntary medication order on an obscure, judicially created standard. Under the Fourteenth Amendment, no state shall "deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." All people have a "significant liberty interest' in refusing involuntary medication." *State v. Fitzgerald*, 2019 WI 69, ¶13, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165 (quoting *Washington v. Harper*, 494 U.S. 210, 221 (1990)). The government may only infringe on that liberty interest by proving that forced medication is "necessary to accomplish an essential state policy." *Riggins v. Nevada*, 504 U.S. 127, 138 (1992).

The use of psychotropic medications has an ugly history. Psychotropic medications have been used indiscriminately for behavior control and staff convenience on people who were institutionalized. See e.g. Pennhurst State School v. Halderman, 465 U.S. 89 127 n.1 (1984) (Brennan, J., dissenting); Heller v. Doe, 509 U.S. 312, 343 (1993) (Souter, J., dissenting). "The unauthorized use of psychotropic drugs to treat mental illness not only infringes upon the right to bodily autonomy, but may also cause actual harm due to adverse side effects." State ex rel. Jones v. Gerhardstein, 135 Wis. 2d 161, 175, 400 N.W. 2d 1 (Ct.

Case 2023AP000722 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-21-2023 Page 23 of 44

App. 1986). As a result, legislatures have sought to minimize paternalism in their dealings with the mentally ill in this area. See State ex rel. Roberta S., v. Waukesha County Human Services Dept., 171 Wis. 2d 266, 275-277, 491 N.W.2d 114 (Ct. App. 1992).

To order involuntary medication in Wisconsin, our Supreme Court has held that "statutory authority" is required. State v. Anthony D.B., 2000 WI 94, ¶24, 237 Wis. 2d 1, 614 N.W.2d 435; see also K.N.K. v. Buhler, 139 Wis. 2d 190, 205-06, 407 N.W.2d 282 (Wis. The complex Ct. App. 1987). public considerations these orders generate are most suitable for the legislature because it is uniquely designed to conduct hearings, obtain specialized input and undertake factfinding to declare public policy and guidelines. Our legislature provided legislative statutory authority in Chapter 51 and in Wis. Stat. § 971.14.

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