FILED 03-25-2025 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

### STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2023AP722-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

N.K.B.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW FROM A COURT OF APPEALS DECISION REVERSING AN ORDER FOR INVOLUNTARY MEDICATION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID C. SWANSON, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. JANSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When it comes to governmental justification for overriding an individual's liberty interest in refusing medication, courts should consider dangerousness grounds before turning to the trial competence question. Because section 971.14 committing courts are statutorily authorized to order involuntary medication to address a committee's

dangerousness at an institution, the circuit court was right to abandon its *Sell* order in favor of a dangerousness order. This Court's plain-meaning approach toward statutory interpretation reveals that section 51.61(1)(g)3. authorizes such dangerousness orders, and its unanimous decision in *Anthony D.B.* confirms as much. The court of appeals' conclusion that section 51.61(1)(g)3. doesn't apply to individuals committed under section 971.14 defies well-established principles of statutory construction. This Court should reverse.

#### **ARGUMENT**

A section 971.14 committing court has statutory authority to order involuntary medication to address a committee's dangerousness in an institution.

A. Courts should consider whether involuntary medication is justified on dangerousness grounds before addressing the *Sell* factors.

In the context of a trial competency restoration commitment under section 971.14, requests for involuntary medication arise in two different situations. First, the government may seek an order to help restore trial competency. See Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(am). When that happens, among other things, the government must satisfy Sell's four-part standard. State v. Fitzgerald, 2019 WI 69, ¶¶ 13, 32, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165. Second, during a competency commitment, the government may seek to involuntarily medicate a committee who's dangerous at an institution. (R. 19; 37.) This case involves the dangerousness scenario.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>4</sup> This Court will be addressing the *Sell* scenario in *State v. J.D.B.*, No. 2023AP715-CR (petition for review granted on February 12, 2025).

15

U.S. Supreme Court has determined that addressing an individual's dangerousness in an institution may provide a sufficient justification for overriding the individual's liberty interest in refusing medication. Washington v. Harper, 494 U.S. 210, 221–27 (1990). Harper involved a state prison policy that authorized involuntary medication where a prison inmate was mentally ill and dangerous, and the treatment was in the inmate's best medical interest. Id. at 222, 236. Opining that "[t]here can be little doubt as to both the legitimacy and the importance of the governmental interest presented here," the *Harper* Court held that the policy complied with due process. *Id.* at 225–27. A later case, *Riggins*, "extended the application of the holding in Harper to pretrial detainees." State v. Wood, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 22, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63 (discussing Riggins v. Nevada, 504 U.S. 127 (1992)).

Importantly, the U.S. Supreme Court has instructed lower courts to consider whether involuntary medication can be justified on dangerousness grounds before turning to *Sell's* competency-restoration inquiry. *Sell v. United States*, 539 U.S. 166, 181–83 (2003). In *Sell* itself, the Court gave two reasons why addressing dangerousness is the preferred route in involuntary medication cases. First, deciding whether "particular drugs are medically appropriate and necessary to control a patient's potentially dangerous behavior (or to avoid serious harm to the patient himself)" is "easier" than trying "to balance [the] harms and benefits related to the more quintessentially legal questions of trial fairness and competence." *Id.* at 182. Second, state courts have experience making dangerousness determinations, typically in civil proceedings. *Id.* 

Courts around the country have observed that the "Supreme Court clearly intends courts to explore other procedures, such as *Harper* hearings (which are to be employed in the case of dangerousness) before considering

involuntary medication orders under Sell." United States v. Rivera-Guerrero, 426 F.3d 1130, 1137 (9th Cir. 2005); see United States v. Morrison, 415 F.3d 1180, 1181 (10th Cir. 2005); United States v. White, 431 F.3d 431, 435 (5th Cir. 2005); United States v. Grape, 549 F.3d 591, 599 (3d Cir. 2008); United States v. Dillon, 738 F.3d 284, 290 (D.C. Cir. 2013); United States v. Hardy, 724 F.3d 280, 295 (2d Cir. 2013). Thus, assuming that the circuit court here was statutorily authorized to order involuntary medication to address Naomi's dangerousness at Mendota, it was in good company to prioritize the "straightforward" dangerousness inquiry over the Sell inquiry. Morrison, 415 F.3d at 1186; (R. 39:10–11.)

B. Section 51.61(1)(g)3. authorizes involuntary medication to address a committee's dangerousness during a section 971.14 commitment.

The court of appeals agreed that "[i]f the involuntary medication provisions contained in [section 51.61(1)(g)1. and 3.] apply here, Naomi can be involuntarily medicated based on her dangerousness without consideration of the *Sell* factors." (Pet-App. 15–16.) The court of appeals concluded that those statutory provisions "do not apply to incompetent defendants committed under Wis. Stat. § 971.14." (Pet-App. 15.) A plain-meaning analysis of the relevant statutes shows that the court of appeals is wrong.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The State does not and has not argued on appeal that U.S. Supreme Court precedent provides "an independent judicial basis for ordering involuntary medication based on dangerousness that would not require any grounding in statutory authority." (Pet-App. 11 n.9.)

### 1. Plain meaning, harmonious reading, and the presumption against ineffectiveness.

When interpreting a statute, courts "assume that the legislature's intent is expressed in the statutory language." State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cnty, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Statutory interpretation thus "begins with the language of the statute." Id. ¶ 45 (citation omitted). "Statutory language is read where possible to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage." Id. ¶ 46.

Context and structure are also "important to meaning." *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46; *see* Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, *Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts*, at 167 (2012) (discussing the "Whole-Text Canon"). "Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes . . . ." *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46. Statutory history, which "encompasses the previously enacted and repealed provisions of a statute," "is part of the context in which [courts] interpret the words used in a statute." *Richards v. Badger Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2008 WI 52, ¶ 22, 309 Wis. 2d 541, 749 N.W.2d 581.

A couple other principles of statutory interpretation are relevant here. First is the "Related-Statutes Canon," which provides that "laws dealing with the same subject—being *in pari materia* (translated as 'in a like matter')—should if possible be interpreted harmoniously." Scalia & Garner, *supra* at 252. As this Court has repeatedly recognized, "When construing several statutes that deal with the same subject, it is our duty to give each provision full force and effect." *Anthony D.B.*, 237 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 11; *see State v. Reyes Fuerte*, 2017 WI 104, ¶ 29, 378 Wis. 2d 504, 904 N.W.2d 773 ("Where multiple statutes are at issue, this court seeks to harmonize them through a reasonable construction that gives effect to all

provisions."). Only when there's unavoidable "conflict between statutes" does the more specific provision control. Reyes Fuerte, 378 Wis. 2d 504, ¶ 29; see Anthony D.B., 237 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 11; Scalia & Garner, supra at 180, 183.

Another relevant principle of statutory construction is the presumption against ineffectiveness. Scalia & Garner, supra at 63, 168. Under that principle, "A textually permissible interpretation that furthers rather than obstructs the document's purpose should be favored." *Id.* at 63. "This canon follows inevitably from the facts that (1) interpretation always depends on context, (2) context always includes evident purpose, and (3) evident purpose always includes effectiveness." *Id.* "An interpretation that contravenes the manifest purpose of [a] statute is unreasonable," and of course statutes should be construed "reasonably, 'to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *State v. Dinkins*, 2012 WI 24, ¶ 29, 339 Wis. 2d 78, 810 N.W.2d 787 (citation omitted).

If the above "process of analysis yields a plain, clear statutory meaning . . . the statute is applied according to this ascertainment of its meaning." Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46 (citation omitted). A court "is not at liberty to disregard the plain, clear words of the statute." Id.

### 2. The relevant statutes and *Anthony* D.B.

"Chapter 51 is the Mental Health Act and Wis. Stat.  $\S$  51.61 is Wisconsin's Patients' Rights Statute." *Anthony D.B.*, 237 Wis. 2d 1,  $\P$  13. The statute kicks off by defining who is a "patient" for purposes of its provisions. Relevant here, a patient includes "any individual who is . . . committed or placed under [ch. 51] or ch. 48, 55, 971, 975, or 980." Wis. Stat.  $\S$  51.61(1).

Section 51.61(1) continues to enumerate rights afforded to patients, including rights regarding medication or treatment. For example, patients have "the right to be informed of [their] treatment and care and to participate in the planning of [their] treatment and care." Wis. Stat. § 51.61(1)(fm). Patients also have the right "to refuse medication and treatment" except under certain scenarios, which leads to the critical involuntary medication provisions in section 51.61(1)(g)3.:

Following a final commitment order . . . [patients] have the right to exercise informed consent with regard to all medication and treatment unless the committing court . . . within 10 days after the filing of the motion of any interested person . . . makes a determination, following a hearing, that the individual is not competent to refuse medication or treatment or unless a situation exists in which the medication or treatment is necessary to prevent serious physical harm to the individual or others. A report, if any, on which the motion is based shall accompany the motion and notice of motion and shall include a statement signed by a licensed physician that asserts that the subject individual needs medication or treatment and . . . is not competent to refuse medication or treatment, based on an examination . . . by a licensed physician.<sup>6</sup>

In *Anthony D.B.*, this Court unanimously held that section 51.61(1)(g)3. authorized a Chapter 980 committing court to order involuntary medication to address a committee's dangerousness at an institution. There, Anthony D.B. was committed pursuant to Chapter 980 and the State sought an involuntary medication order to address his dangerousness in an institution. *Anthony D.B.*, 237 Wis. 2d 1,

<sup>6</sup> The other scenarios where patients lose the right to refuse medication or treatment appear to involve pre-commitment time periods. Wisconsin Stat. § 51.61(1)(g)2. authorizes a court to order involuntary medication "[a]t or after the hearing to determine probable cause for commitment but prior to the final commitment order." And section 51.61(1)(g)1., which the State previously relied on in addition to section 51.61(1)(g)3., seems on closer examination to involve the precommitment stage as well. The State therefore focuses on section 51.61(1)(g)3., which plainly governs post-commitment situations.

¶¶ 2–4. At a hearing on the State's motion, a doctor testified that "involuntary medication was necessary to protect Anthony D.B. from himself, and to protect others from him." Id. ¶ 4. Specifically, Anthony D.B. "suffered from a mental disease" and when left unmedicated, he "became psychotic, aggressive, sexually focused" and "refuse[d] to eat or drink." Id. After finding Anthony D.B. not competent to refuse medication, the circuit court ordered involuntary medication. Id. ¶ 1. It concluded that it was authorized to issue the order under section 51.61(1)(g). Id. ¶ 6.

On appeal, Anthony D.B. argued that the committing court had no authority to order involuntary medication. Anthony D.B., 237 Wis. 2d 1,  $\P\P$  1, 5. He contended "that neither Wis. Stat. ch. 980 nor Wis. Stat. § 51.61(1)(g)" authorized the order and that "the State was required to initiate commitment proceedings under Wis. Stat. ch. 51 before seeking an order for involuntary medication." *Id.* ¶¶ 5, 10. This Court disagreed, finding that section 51.61(1)(g)3. "provide[s] a statutory mechanism for the treatment of sexually violent persons." Id. ¶¶ 14–15. This Court reasoned that because Anthony D.B. was a "patient" for purposes of section 51.61(1)(g)3., the "specific procedures for involuntary medication" set forth in the statute applied to him. Id. ¶¶ 13-15. Those procedures allowed the Chapter 980 committing court to order involuntary medication upon a finding that Anthony D.B. needed treatment and wasn't competent to refuse medication. *Id.* ¶ 15.

At the time that *Anthony D.B.* was decided, Chapter 980 didn't have "specific procedures for involuntary medication." *Anthony D.B.*, 237 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 14. By contrast, here, section 971.14 does have involuntary medication provisions covering committees. Thus, statutory language in section 971.14 is also relevant to this appeal.

"Wisconsin Stat. § 971.14 requires a circuit court to enter an order for involuntary medication to restore a criminal

defendant's competency to proceed provided the statutory parameters are met." Fitzgerald, 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶ 19 (emphasis added). Under the statute, a committee may find himself subject to an involuntary medication order for competency restoration via one of two routes. First, the circuit court may issue the order at the same time as the commitment decision. See Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b). Second, the court may issue the order during the commitment. See Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(am). Either way, the statutory standard for obtaining the order is the same: the defendant must need medication and be incompetent to refuse it. See Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(dm), (4)(b), (5)(am).

Specifically, where the circuit court orders involuntary medication at the same time as its commitment decision, it considers the competency examiner's "opinion on whether the defendant needs medication or treatment and whether the defendant is not competent to refuse medication." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(dm); see Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b). And where the court orders involuntary medication during the commitment, it considers a "licensed physician['s]" opinion "that the defendant needs medication or treatment and that the defendant is not competent to refuse medication or treatment." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(am). The standard for determining incompetency to refuse medication is listed in section 971.14(3)(dm).

Neither section 971.14(3)(dm), nor section 971.14(4)(b), nor section 971.14(5)(am), explicitly addresses involuntary medication for dangerousness in an institution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As established in *Fitzgerald*, the statutory provisions for involuntary medication to restore trial competency are "unconstitutional to the extent" that they "require[] circuit courts to order involuntary medication" without applying the *Sell* factors. *State v. Fitzgerald*, 2019 WI 69, ¶ 2, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165. So, the State must satisfy the *Sell* standard and the statutory parameters in section 971.14. (Pet-App. 20 n.13.)

### 3. As in *Anthony D.B.*, section 51.61(1)(g)3. authorized the involuntary medication order here.

The State has a strong interest in "maintaining safety, security, and functionality within" its mental health institutions. *Wood*, 323 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 32; *see also Vitek v. Jones*, 445 U.S. 480, 495 (1980) ("Concededly the interest of the State in segregating and treating mentally ill patients is strong."). "Indeed, that interest is well-established." *Wood*, 323 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 32.

To serve the State's strong interest, a statutory mechanism exists for involuntarily medicating section 971.14 committees who are dangerous, and it doesn't involve a separate, dual commitment under Chapter 51. Specifically, section 51.61(1)(g)3. authorizes section 971.14 committing courts to issue such orders.

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